STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

06-23-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appeal No. 14AP000823-CR

JESSICA ANN STOFFLET,

Defendant-Appellant.

OPENING BRIEF AND COMBINED APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR SAUK COUNTY, THE HONORABLE PATRICK TAGGART, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,
JESSICA ANN STOFFLET
Defendant-Appellant, by,
BEDNAREK LAW OFFICE, LLC
Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant
10 E. Doty Street, Suite 617
Madison, WI 53703
(608) 257-1680

BY: JONAS BEDNAREK State Bar No. 1032034

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Stofflet was pulled over for alleged lane deviations and speed fluctuations. Her eye was bloodshot, her speech was slow, and there was a moderate odor of intoxicants coming from her car. She admitted to drinking five and one-half hours earlier. Given the rainy conditions, law enforcement immediately administered a preliminary breath test ("PBT"). Did the Circuit Court err when it held that there was probable cause to administer the PBT?
- 2. If the PBT was illegally administered, should all evidence following its use have been suppressed? The Circuit Court made no explicit ruling on this issue, as it held that there was probable cause to administer the PBT.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The defendant-appellant is not requesting oral argument or publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 9, 2013 Trooper Andrew J. Rau of the Wisconsin State Patrol observed a vehicle, the operator of which was later determined to be Stofflet,

traveling eastbound on 190/94. 38:7. Trooper Rau testified that the vehicle "swerve[d] over the white fog line and onto the shoulder." *Id.*; 38:21. Trooper Rau testified that the vehicle then "deviated within its lane and it also crossed over the white dotted line separating the right lane from the left lane." 38:8. According to Trooper Rau, the vehicle crossed onto the white dotted line three times. *Id.*

Trooper Rau stated on cross-examination that he did not remember and "didn't count" how many times Stofflet veered outside the lane, but ultimately testified "I said at least three, yeah. I remember at least three different times." 38:23. Trooper Rau's earliest observations were not recorded on video, including the alleged lane deviations. 38:21.

According to Trooper Rau, the vehicle was also varying its speed. *Id*. Immediately before being pulled over, the vehicle slowed to a speed of 35 miles per hour. *Id*.

Trooper Rau activated his emergency lights and stopped the vehicle. 38:9. The vehicle stopped safely on the side of the road. 38:25. Trooper Rau then made contact with the driver, Stofflet. 38:9. Stofflet told Trooper Rau that "[he] had scared her and she thought that [he] was following her, that she had somebody stalk her or follow her the other night." 38:10.

Trooper Rau testified that he detected a "moderate" odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle and that Stofflet's speech was "a little slow, slurred." *Id*. On cross-examination, Trooper Rau conceded that he had never previously referred to Stofflet's speech as "slurred" in his reports—only as "slow." 38:28.

This was his first interaction with Stofflet and he had no frame of reference for how her voice would usually sound. 38:28.

Trooper Rau asked Stofflet how much she had to drink that evening. *Id*. Stofflet indicated that she had a "couple." *Id*. Her last drink, she told the officer, was at 11 o'clock that evening—five and one-half hours earlier. *Id*. She also stated that a drink had been spilled on her bag. *Id*. Trooper Rau testified that he observed her right eye to be bloodshot and glassy. 38:11. When asked where she was coming from, she indicated "Wisconsin Dolls." *Id*. On Exhibit One from the motion hearing, the video of the stop, she can be heard telling Trooper Rau she is a "dancer"—meaning she is a worker and not necessarily a patron of the establishment. 31.

Trooper Rau returned to his squad car. 38:29. On the video, he can be heard telling dispatch that it is his intention to give a PBT in order to determine whether further investigation is necessary. 31. At the motion hearing, Trooper Rau said he did not recall making this statement. 38:29. Although he contacted dispatch, Trooper Rau neglected to ask for a driver's license check at that time. 38:30.

Trooper Rau then returned to Stofflet's vehicle. 38:31. He informed Stofflet that he was going to give her a PBT in order to determine if further investigation was necessary. 38:31. Trooper Rau testified that his decision to give the PBT at this stage was motivated primarily by the existence of "inclement weather." 38:11. Trooper Rau testified that the PBT was a replacement for "coming out and doing field sobriety tests in the rain." *Id.* He described this as a "courtesy" to Stofflet. *Id.*

Trooper Rau believed that he had sufficient evidence to request field sobriety tests at that point and was under the impression that a "PBT is also a field sobriety test." 38:34.

Following the PBT result, Stofflet was *then* asked to do field sobriety tests. 38:12. Stofflet informed Trooper Rau that she was blind in one eye and had a pinched sciatic nerve. 38:15-16. Trooper Rau went ahead with the tests. *Id*. Trooper Rau then observed alleged "clues" which he believed to be indicative of intoxication. *Id*.

Following the field sobriety tests, Trooper Rau asked for another PBT. 38:19. He was not able to obtain an adequate sample. *Id.* Trooper Rau then arrested Stofflet for OWI. *Id.* Stofflet subsequently filed a motion to suppress evidence based on an unlawful administration of the PBT. 18:1-2.

At the motion hearing, Stofflet argued that there was insufficient evidence based on Trooper Rau's testimony to conclude that the statutory threshold for administration of a PBT—probable cause to believe that an OWI offense was occurring—had been met. 38:40-39-50. The statute, Stofflet argued, does not contain an exception for inclement weather. 38:48. Stofflet argued that because the State had failed to comply with the law, the test and all evidence subsequently derived from it should be suppressed. 38:49-50.

The State supported its position—that there was probable cause to administer the test—by repeatedly citing to an unpublished per curiam decision.

38:13, 50, 55-56. It argued that the PBT was appropriate given both the evidence gathered by Trooper Rau and the existence of bad weather. 38:54. ("[E]xactly the sort of situation in which a PBT proves extremely useful.") Even if the PBT was suppressed however, the State argued that the resulting arrest—and other derivative evidence—was still valid. 38:57.

The Circuit Court then ruled in favor of the State, denying Stofflet's motion. 38:59. It held that the Wisconsin Supreme Court has created what can be labeled as "probable cause light" or "reasonable suspicion heavy" in assessing whether there is a proper basis to administer a PBT. *Id.* The Court focused largely on Stofflet's driving, and held that that standard had been satisfied:

And the Court agrees with the State to the extent that the driving here was erratic and I give it significant weight here in the officer's determination that there was enough here for him to take the PBT.

38:59-60. The Circuit Court attributed to Stofflet an argument that the "inalterable" procedure in Wisconsin" is that field sobriety tests must always be given before a PBT. 38:60. It disagreed with that interpretation of the case law. *Id*. It held that "there are circumstances where field sobriety tests aren't appropriate" and that this was such a scenario. *Id*.

The Circuit Court then discussed the driving again, stating "And this is a situation where the officer had more than enough and the driving is a significant part of it." *Id.* While the Circuit Court did not observe what the officer testified to in its independent viewing of the video, it found Trooper Rau's testimony credible

¹ A violation of WIS. STAT. 809.23(3)(b).

as to events that were not captured on video. *Id.* It also held that *some* of the allegedly bad driving was captured on video. 38:61.

As to Trooper Rau's testimony concerning the driving, the Court stated "It wasn't established here as to whether the officer, when he was saying over the dotted line or over the fog line, was referring to crossing it or being upon it in some sense. I don't know." 38:61.

Regarding Stofflet's alleged speed fluctuations, the Court stated that "It's a little—it is hard to determine actually whether or not speeding up or slowing down is being caused by the traffic ahead of the defendant, but I ascribe that to inherent problems with video and the difference between what the video depicts and what an experienced officer is able to see as he is actually observing the conduct." *Id*.

The Circuit Court also gave some weight to the time of night which it believed was after bar time. 58:62. ("it's after bar time, it's a couple hours after, I think.") The Circuit Court did not give "much weight" to the testimony regarding Stofflet's slurred or slow speech. *Id*.

Even though Stofflet had provided a "fairly detailed statement" regarding her stalking experience and how and why it affected her driving—as well as how and why the odor of intoxicants was present in the vehicle—the Circuit Court held that Trooper Rau had no obligation to believe those explanations over an alternative explanation consistent with guilt. 38:63.

The Circuit Court then ruled as follows:

Now, I haven't gone through the well-known statements of reasonable suspicion and the well-known statements of what it takes to have probable cause to arrest. I think they're so well-known and counsel are experienced enough to know what they are without my repeating them, but those are what I'm applying here to find, while not an easy measure ever because it's somewhere in between those two, I find there's more than enough probable cause of the sort called for by the *Renz* case for the administration of the PBT.

(38:63.)

Regarding the PBT's impact on the rest of the investigation, the Court stated that "at that point, given all of what had gone on before, the totality of the circumstances were that the officer had probable cause to arrest" Stofflet. *Id.* The additional tests following the PBT were "unnecessary." *Id.*

Stofflet pled guilty following the adverse decision and promptly appealed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Before an officer can administer a PBT, they must have probable cause that "the person is violating or has violated" an OWI offense. WIS. STAT. § 343.303. Probable-cause in this context "refers to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion necessary to justify an investigative stop...but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." *Cnty. of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 293, 316, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

The PBT is a tool intended to assist law enforcement, in the scope of a properly conducted OWI stop, to bridge the gap between reasonable suspicion and probable cause to arrest. *See State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 32, 322 Wis.2d 265,

778 N.W.2d 629; *State v. Begicevic*, 2004 WI App 57, ¶ 10, 270 Wis.2d 675, 678 N.W.2d 293.

The case law therefore explicitly delineates between the amount of evidence required before an officer can make a suspect submit to field sobriety tests and the amount of evidence needed to take the next, more intrusive, step of requiring a PBT. *See Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310.

Here, the officer lacked sufficient evidence to require Stofflet to submit to a PBT. He chose to use the PBT anyway, taking a shortcut that is not authorized by statute. As a result, the PBT should obviously have been suppressed at the Circuit Court. Moreover, because Trooper Rau's testimony evinces at best a willing ignorance of the legal standards he is supposed to uphold and apply (and at worst a willing disregard of them) this case calls out for the judicial sanction of exclusion of evidence. In the alternative, evidence derived as a result of an unlawfully extended investigative detention should be suppressed under the "well-known" Fourth Amendment law discussed in the Circuit Court's oral ruling. *See Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310, *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983). As a final alternative, the PBT should be viewed as an illegal search, resulting in its suppression all derivative evidence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The application of a statute to a set of undisputed facts raises only a question of law that should be decided without deference to the trial court. *Minuteman, Inc. v. Alexander*, 147 Wis.2d 842, 853, 434 N.W.2d 773 (1989). Constitutional issues are likewise reviewed de novo. *State v. Turner*, 136 Wis.2d 333, 344, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987).

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The Circuit Court erred when it held that Trooper Rau had probable cause to administer the PBT.

A. The legal standard

The administration of a PBT is controlled by statute, meaning that the legislature has put intentional limitations on when the PBT can and cannot be used. Specifically, our legislature has unequivocally stated that an officer *must* have probable cause before they subject a motorist to a PBT. WIS. STAT. § 343.303.

When asked to interpret the statute's use of the phrase "probable cause," the Wisconsin Supreme Court couched their analysis in context of a wide-ranging discussion about a properly conducted *overall* OWI investigation. *See Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310. The Court explicitly referenced what could be termed an 'ideal' OWI stop, one in which the Officer's escalating level of suspicion matches up neatly with an escalating law enforcement intrusion. *See Id*.

Thus, to stop an alleged drunk driver, police require "reasonable suspicion" that a violation is occurring or has occurred. *Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310. Only then are they allowed to conduct preliminary questioning and to make observations of the driver in a close setting. If, after making contact with the driver, the officer picks up further clues (but is still unsure as to whether a crime probably occurred) they can ask the driver to do field sobriety tests. *Id.* If after these tests the officer is still on the fence as to whether probable cause to arrest exists, they are empowered to use a PBT "to assist" in making that decision. *Id.* The PBT is thus designed to help law enforcement bridge the gap between reasonable suspicion and probable cause to arrest. See *State v. Fischer*, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 32, 322 Wis.2d 265, 778 N.W.2d 629.

In fact, the Wisconsin Supreme Court, after scrutinizing the legislative history, concluded:

Thus, the overall scheme of these provisions is to allow officers to use the PBT as a tool to determine whether to arrest a suspect and to establish that probable cause for an arrest existed, if the arrest is challenged. This scheme makes the most sense if the officer may request a PBT before establishing probable cause for an arrest, to help determine whether there are grounds for arrest.

Renz, 231 Wis.2d at 304.

The PBT thus occupies a special place in the OWI investigation. Because it is intended to be used to help make an officer make a decision regarding arrest—arguably the most important decision from a liberty-preservation perspective—it requires a greater degree of evidentiary justification than the less-intrusive investigative techniques that have preceded it.

Compare, for example, the level of proof needed for a PBT to the level of proof required for field sobriety test (which in turn requires a greater level of proof than is needed to conduct the initial stop). In order to escalate a stop and to order a suspect to complete field sobriety tests, the officer must be able point to "information that [makes] it reasonable to investigate further" *Cnty. of Dane v. Campshure*, 204 Wis.2d 27, 32, 552 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1996); *see also Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310; *State v. Burmeister*, No. 2013AP106-CR, ¶ 9, unpublished slip. op. (Wis. Ct. App. Sept. 17, 2013).

In contrast, in order to take the next step and require that a defendant give a roadside sample of their breath, the officer needs something more—probable cause to believe that a crime is likely being committed. *Renz*, 231 Wis.2d at 310.

The idea that a PBT is intended to help officers make the decision, following a properly conducted investigation, whether there is sufficient evidence to arrest comes directly from the statute itself and is embodied in the ensuing case law. For example, in *State v. Felton*, the Court of Appeals embraced the view of a PBT as a kind of 'final step' that could be used by officers to tip the scales toward arrest in a situation where the evidence had surely risen above reasonable suspicion but had not *quite* risen to the level of probable cause to arrest. *State v. Felton*, 2012 WI App 114, ¶ 10, 344 Wis.2d 483, 824 N.W.2d 871.

Both the Circuit Court and the State are therefore mistaken if they believe that Stofflet's position is that a PBT must *always* follow field sobriety tests. If one views the legal tests properly—as standing for the concept that we are aiming at a

specific 'triggering' amount of evidence that allows the administration of the PBT—there will always inevitably be cases where the evidence at hand rises to that level *without* field sobriety tests being conducted.

For example, a highly suggestive accident and an egregiously intoxicated driver would likely eliminate the need for field sobriety tests. Courts facing that kind of fact pattern have therefore held that the administration of a PBT is proper absent field sobriety tests. *See for example Village of Grafton v. Schlegel*, No. 2013AP2521, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. May 7, 2014); *Cnty. of Fond du Lac v. Niquette*, No. 2012AP2708, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. April 25, 2013); *Dane Cnty. v. Koehn*, No. 2012AP1718, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 10, 2013); *State v. Hamilton*, No. 2011AP1325-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Nov. 23, 2011).

In contrast, many of the other cases interpreting the PBT standard—including *Felton*—give analytical weight to field sobriety tests and other indicia above and beyond the kind of rote observations at issue in this case. *See for example State v. Litke*, No.2103AP1606-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Mar. 11, 2014) (driving vehicle with headlights off on Friday night, admission of drinking just a few blocks away and "wobble" during field sobriety tests); *State v. Brinkmeier*, No. 2013AP15-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. August 1, 2013) (erratic driving including a failure to obey traffic signals and multiple clues on field sobriety tests); *Village of Muscoda v. Anderson*, No. 2012AP2216, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. May 16, 2013) (failure to perform walk and

turn test and the presence of half-empty, partially hidden vodka bottle in car).

This idea of 'weighing' evidence to ascertain whether some trigger point has been met is explicitly discussed in *In re Roberts*, in which the Court of Appeals held that even if the evidence from the field sobriety tests did not contribute *a lot*, they contributed *something* and it is that *something* that helps law enforcement over the probable cause 'hump.' *See In re Roberts*, No. 2010AP2899, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. June 30, 2011).

B. Trooper Rau's conduct does not satisfy the legal standard.

In contrast, this case presents no strong evidence supporting probable cause to administer the PBT. For example, there was no accident, Stofflet was not egregiously drunk, and she was certainly not trying to conceal half-empty vodka bottles in her car.

Rather, the Circuit Court held that probable cause could largely be derived from her driving. *See* 38:59-60. Thus, it credited the testimony of Trooper Rau on this point (who failed to record those driving behaviors that are arguably most egregious, only disclosed them when testifying, and even then could not accurately recall how many times Stofflet is alleged to have touched or crossed the center line) despite also holding that "it wasn't established" exactly what her driving behaviors were. 38:61.

Thus, Stofflet's alleged lane deviations—coupled with the variable speed (recalling also that the Court stated it was unable to accurately discern from the video whether those fluctuations were caused by traffic patterns) were the

deciding pieces of evidence in the Circuit Court's oral ruling. See 38:59-60.

Clearly, poor driving *might* support a <u>stop</u>—but undersigned counsel is unable to find a single case where bad driving alone was sufficient evidence capable of skipping past all intervening levels of reasonable suspicion and going straight to probable cause to administer a PBT. *Cf. State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, \P 2, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634 (swerving within lane does not in and of itself automatically create reasonable suspicion supporting traffic stop). Setting aside the fact that the Court's oral ruling inadvertently highlights glaring issues with that evidence in and of itself, it should be self-evident that poor driving alone does not create probable cause to administer a PBT.

So what evidence *did* Trooper Rau have after pulling Stofflet over? Simply put, he had an admission of drinking five and-one-half hours earlier, an odor,² the later hour, and a bloodshot and glassy eye. These are not clear-cut indicia of intoxication—and are therefore clearly not sufficient for probable cause to administer to a PBT, especially in light of other facts and circumstances weighing against probable cause.

That is, Trooper Rau also had innocent explanations for at least some of these factors—and while the Court is correct that the Trooper is not *required* to accept her explanations at face value, he is still after all supposed to act "reasonably" during the stop of her person. One would after all hope that a

² Importantly, the odor was coming from her vehicle generally and not specifically her person. She also had an innocent explanation for the odor. This is not in and of itself greatly suspicious behavior. *See State v. Gonzalez*, unpublished slip op., (Wis. Ct. App. May 8, 2014).

"reasonable" officer would seek to verify their suspicions in light of all the facts and evidence they have acquired, not just leap to inappropriate and unwarranted conclusions.

In any event, Trooper Rau's own words on Exhibit 1 indicate he was himself unsure whether there was sufficient evidence to proceed further—telling both dispatch and Stofflet that the purpose of the PBT was to determine whether further investigation was necessary. 31.

An argument that there was somehow probable cause to administer the PBT based on this low quantum of evidence therefore threatens to make a mockery of the standard discussed in *Renz*. The State cannot escape the fact that Trooper Rau gave the PBT here *not* because there was any objective justification, but because he was hoping for an excuse to stay out of the rain. For the State to come in after the fact and call that "probable cause" is a laughable distortion of enshrined precedent in the Courts of this State.

Because there was no probable cause to support the administration of the PBT, it should have been suppressed. The Circuit Court was egregiously mistaken—inasmuch as it even bothered to give any legal basis for its decision³—when it held otherwise. Accordingly, the defense motion should have been granted.

³ See for example the Court's decision not to explicitly discuss the legal grounds for its decision because they were so "well-known." 38:63.

II. Following the unlawful administration of the PBT, any derivative evidence must likewise be suppressed.

The Circuit Court held that once the PBT was conducted, further investigation was "unnecessary" as probable cause to arrest existed following the PBT. 38:63.

In a sense, this is an implicit ratification of Trooper Rau's words on the tape—that the PBT was the *sole* reason for this investigation to proceed further.

31. The State is therefore incapable of meeting its burden that any "independent source" exists for that evidence obtained following the illegally administered PBT. See State v. Carroll, 2010 WI 8, ¶ 45, 322 Wis.2d 299,778 N.W.2d 1 (citing Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 540 (1988)). The decisions to conduct more field sobriety tests, to do another PBT and ultimately to arrest Stofflet were a response to the initial, unlawfully obtained PBT result.

evidence "obtained by exploitation of that illegality." *State v. Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 24, 285 Wis.2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899 (citing *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471, 485-488 (1963)). That rule applies to statutory violations, *Knapp*, 2005 WI 127, ¶ 25. An argument that the statute does not expressly provide for exclusion or suppression—and that these remedies are therefore unavailable—is not supported by case law. To the contrary, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has held "that evidence obtained in violation of a statute (or not in accordance with the statute) may be suppressed under the statute to achieve the objectives of the

statute, even though the statute does not expressly provide for the suppression or exclusion of the evidence." *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 62, 309 Wis.2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611. Here, it is clear that the objective of the statute—striking a balance between the privacy of individuals and the detection of intoxicated driving—are served by exclusion.

Furthermore, the "judicial remedy" of exclusion involves, at its core, a policy-centric decision. *See State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 15, 327 Wis.2d 252, 786 N.W.2d 97 (2010). That remedy should be utilized when there is a compelling argument that suppression will have a deterrent effect on future improper police conduct. *See Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 35.

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