RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEAUTS 28-2014 TRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Appeal No. 14-AP-823-CR Circuit Court Case No. 13-CT-371

VS.

JESSICA ANN STOFFLET

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SAUK COUNTY, SAUK COUNTY CASE NO. 12-CT-284, THE HONORABLE PATRICK TAGGART, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Michael X. Albrecht Assistant District Attorney Sauk County District Attorney's Office 515 Oak Street Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-3280 State Bar No. 1085008

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court's Findings of Fact, That Stofflet's Driving Was "Erratic" and the Officer's Testimony was Credible, Are Not Clearly Erroneous.

Stofflet, Defendant-Appellant, challenges her conviction on the basis that Trooper Rau lacked the "probable cause to believe" she was violating the OWI laws required by WIS. STAT. § 343.303 when he asked her to submit to a preliminary breath test ("PBT"). When evaluating a circuit court's decision regarding a suppression motion, the circuit court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. State v. Roberts, 196 Wis.2d 445, 452, 538 N.W.2d 825 (Ct.App.1995). The question of whether a given set of facts constitute probable cause is a question of law which is reviewed de novo. State v. Babbitt, 188 Wis.2d 349, 356, 525 N.W.2d 102 (Ct.App.1994).

Though the Defense brief indicates that the facts are "undisputed" (Def. Br. at 9), it at the same time attempts to undercut the court's findings of fact by impeaching the officer (Def. Br. at 13 ("who failed to record...")) and pointing out "glaring issues" with the evidence (Def. Br. at 14). It is therefore worth first evaluating whether the trial court's findings of facts are clearly erroneous.

The trial court, Honorable Judge Guy. D. Reynolds presiding, heard testimony from Trooper Andrew Rau of the Wisconsin State Patrol and reviewed a portion of his squad video at the December 6, 2013 evidentiary hearing. The trial court

found that, based upon Rau's testimony and the squad video, that the Defendant's driving was "erratic". (38:59.) The court noted the time of day, which was early morning after "bar time". (38:61.) The court pointed to various instances of bad driving outlined in the officer's testimony and in the squad video. (38:60-61.) The court further determined that the squad video did not impeach the officer's testimony and instead credited the officer as essentially being in a better position to view the conduct than the squad video could depict. (38:61.)

A cursory review of the transcript and the squad video indicates that the trial court's findings of fact are not clearly erroneous. Squad videos are not perfect recordings of events and when presented with an imperfect and incomplete reproduction of the stop, the trial court must weigh the credibility of any witnesses when arriving at its decision. In this case, only one witness testified, Trooper Rau, and the trial court chose to adopt his testimony as the factual basis for the decision to deny Stofflet's motion to suppress. Nothing in the record demonstrates that the trial court's findings were clear error.

II. When the Trial Court's Findings of Fact are Applied to the Controlling Law, Trooper Rau Did Have "Probable Cause to Believe" Stofflet Was Violating an OWI law and Could Request She Provide a PBT.

WIS. STAT. § 343.303 establishes that if a law enforcement officer has "probable cause to believe" a person has violated an Operating While Intoxicated statute, the officer may request the person to submit to a PBT. "[P]robable cause to believe refers to a quantum of proof greater than the reasonable suspicion

necessary to justify an investigative stop ... but less than the level of proof required to establish probable cause for arrest." <u>County of Jefferson v. Renz</u>, 231 Wis.2d 293, 316, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999) (internal quotation marks omitted). The PBT "may be requested when an officer has a basis to justify an investigative stop but has not established probable cause to justify an arrest." <u>State v. Fischer</u>, 2010 WI 6, ¶ 5, 322 Wis.2d 265, 778 N.W.2d 629.

Defendant references in her brief a variety of details that were not present during the stop. It is true that there was no accident, and further that the Defendant did not vomit in front of the officer nor slump over the steering wheel upon stopping the vehicle. However, the absence of hand-picked, obviously egregious facts do not negate the observations the trooper made at the time of the traffic stop. What is ultimately most important for the Court to consider is what the officer *did* see, not everything in the world that he did not.

Above all, the trooper saw bad driving. This included erratic maneuvers such as:

- The Defendant swerved over the white fog line and onto the shoulder.
 (38:7.)
- The Defendant deviated within her lane. (38:7.)
- The Defendant crossed over the white dotted line separating the lanes at least 3 times, but did not change lanes. (38:7.)
- The Defendant varied speeds by slowing down and then speeding up. (38:7.)

- The Defendant swerved over to the left lane and braked hard, slowing to 35 mph in a 65 mph interstate zone. (38:7.)

The trooper then made specific observations when he approached the Defendant's driver's side window:

- A moderate odor of intoxicants coming from the vehicle (38:10), of which the Defendant was the sole occupant.¹
- The Defendant's speech was slow and slurred.² (38:10.)
- The Defendant admitted to drinking "a couple" that evening. (38:10.)
- The Defendant said she was coming from a bar. (38:10-11.)
- The Defendant had a bloodshot and glassy right eye. (38:11.)

All of these observations being made in the early morning hours of approximately 4:30 a.m.. (38:7.)

And while the Defendant immediately provided conveniently innocent explanations for her driving behavior, the odor and how long ago she drank, the trooper was under no obligation to believe those explanations. State v. Nieves, 2007 WI App 189, ¶ 14, 304 Wis.2d 182, 738 N.W.2d 125 ("[A]n officer is not required to draw a reasonable inference that favors innocence when there also is a reasonable inference that favors probable cause.").⁴ If he had to believe the

¹ It does not appear it was expressly stated in the testimony that the Defendant was the sole occupant of the car. However the squad video that was received as Exhibit 1 shows that there were no other occupants other than the Defendant.

² However, the court did not give "much weight" to this. (38:62.)

³ The Defendant later said she is blind in her left eye. (38:15.)

⁴ While this case deals with probable cause to arrest, it seems equally applicable to a "probable cause to believe" analysis.

Defendant, then anyone with a well-prepared story would be unassailable and immune from further investigation. However, "[1]aw enforcement officers are permitted to formulate certain commonsense conclusions about human behavior and to consider the evidence as understood by those versed in the field of law enforcement." <u>Id.</u> Trooper Rau did just that.

The Defendant's argument is predicated on a basic, tacit assumption: a PBT must necessarily come after field sobriety tests. It is true that field sobriety tests are ideal to have prior to a PBT. It is also true that if the trooper had the "probable cause to believe" to ask for a PBT, he certainly had the reasonable suspicion to ask the Defendant to perform field sobriety tests. But nothing in Renz or any other Wisconsin case dictates a particular procedure that an officer investigating an OWI must follow. Furthermore, the varied nature of OWI offenses suggests that there is no one, best cookie-cutter approach to investigating them – they are rarely "ideal". That is precisely why Wisconsin courts have routinely rejected bright line rules in favor of totality of a circumstances analyses. See e.g., State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

Oftentimes officers stop vehicles for nothing more than equipment violations such as a broken tail lamp. Upon these type of stops, the officer can have no reasonable suspicion of OWI until he makes contact with the driver at their window. His justification for stopping the vehicle is based on probable cause of an equipment violation, so he cannot simply require the driver to immediately perform field sobriety tests without articulating more. The officer must point to

new observations in order to develop reasonable suspicion of OWI and extend the stop for field sobriety. State v. Colstad, 2003 WI App 25, ¶ 19, 260 Wis.2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. The reason for the stop, the equipment violation, has nothing to do with OWI.

Here, however, when Trooper Rau stopped the Defendant's vehicle, he had reasonable suspicion of OWI from the beginning. Given the erratic driving and the time of night, the initial observations that justified the stop are very much like those in Post, 2007 WI 60. Unlike Post, the driving behaviors in this case probably constituted several traffic violations. But even in Post, where there were no specific traffic infractions, but certainly suspicious driving conduct, the bad driving arose to the level of reasonable suspicion *of OWI*. Once Trooper Rau had a few moments to speak with the Defendant, his reasonable suspicion was elevated – not quite to probable cause for arrest, but certainly to the "probable cause to believe" an OWI had been committed.

The State's argument is not the strawman contained in the Defendant's brief. The State certainly makes no argument that poor driving alone, viewed in a vacuum, arises to the level of "probable cause to believe" in this case. Nor does the State contend that the physical observations of the Defendant, on their own, justify a PBT. Each alone would arise to reasonable suspicion, but not "probable cause to believe." However, the bad driving, combined with the physical

-

 $^{^5}$ For example, such Impeding Traffic by Slow Speed or Unsafe Lane Deviation. WIS. STAT. $\$ 346.59(1); 346.13(1) .

observations of the Defendant, her admissions, and the time of night all elevate the officer's category of inquiry from reasonable suspicion to "probable cause to believe."

The irony of this case is most painfully apparent in the reason the officer gave PBT. Meant as a courtesy to the Defendant to keep her out of the rain,⁶ it is now being pointed to as a violation of the Defendant's rights. Quickly submitting to a PBT under the circumstances certainly seems less intrusive than standing out in the rain to perform physical tasks. But ultimately, the trooper's subjective intent does not matter. Whren v. U.S., 517 U.S. 806, 813, 116 S.Ct. 1769 (1996). What matters is whether there was an objectively reasonable basis for requesting a PBT.

A significant number of OWI investigations have absolutely no bad driving conduct, so the justification for the stop is something wholly unrelated to OWI. It makes sense in those cases, that an officer would need to investigate beyond simple personal contact clues ascertained from looking at the Defendant through a driver's side window. But in this case, before the trooper ever spoke to the Defendant he had reasonable suspicion of OWI. Her driving conduct was erratic, and frankly dangerous, on a 65 mph interstate highway. After the trooper spent a few moments with the Defendant, he had a red flag that even the most naïve of law enforcement officers could not miss – he had probable cause to believe she

_

⁶ "[H]e was hoping for an excuse to stay out of the rain" (Def. Br. at 15) is a particularly hollow argument when the squad video shows the officer standing out in the rain.

had committed an OWI. For all the above reasons, the PBT that he then administered was lawfully given and the Defendant's motion to dismiss was rightly denied.

CONCLUSION

Nothing in the record indicates that the trial court's findings of fact were clearly erroneous. When those facts are applied to the relevant law, Trooper Rau observed enough concerning behavior under the totality of the circumstances to warrant requesting a PBT from the Defendant. The "erratic" driving, the Defendant's admissions, and the trooper's observations of her, led Trooper Rau to have "probable cause to believe" the Defendant was Operating While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant. Therefore the trial court's decision must be affirmed.